www.cpwr.com • www.elcosh.org



Embedded Safety Communication System for Robust Hazard Perception of Individuals in Work Zones

Jee Park Sayan Sakhakarmi

University of Nevada Las Vegas

September 2019

8484 Georgia Avenue Suite 1000 Silver Spring, MD 20910

PHONE: 301.578.8500 Fax: 301.578.8572

©2019, CPWR-The Center for Construction Research and Training. All rights reserved. CPWR is the research and training arm of NABTU. Production of this document was supported by cooperative agreement OH 009762 from the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). The contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of NIOSH.

Table of Contents

1.	Abstract 1
2.	Key Findings 1
3.	Introduction
4.	Objectives
5.	Methods
	System Development
	Key Hazard Information and Number of Vibration Motors
	Experimental Studies
	Sensory System Configuration Study
	Signal Parameter Study7
	Field Trials
6.	Accomplishments and Results
7.	Changes/Problems
8.	Future funding plans
9.	List of publications/presentations 12
10.	Dissemination plan
11.	References

1. ABSTRACT

Although safety is given the topmost priority in the construction industry, reported severe injuries and fatalities indicate insufficient attention to worker safety. Past studies have demonstrated significant progress in identifying potential hazards (i.e., hazard detection); however, such detected hazards are not well communicated to workers. Past research demonstrated that workers often fail to perceive, be aware of, or sense warnings generated by hazard detection systems. Thus, this study explored a method to improve workers' hazard perception, with a focus on a tactile-based, wearable system to effectively alert workers to previously identified potential hazards. The main objective of this study was to develop a prototype Embedded Safety Communication System (ESCS) and determine its capability to improve workers' perceptions of hazards that are communicated to them. In this project, the research team developed the ESCS prototype, investigated the system configuration, created tactile messages to send hazard-related messages, and conducted field tests to validate system effectiveness. The test results indicate that the tactile signals transmitted with the ESCS prototype are capable of communicating potential hazards to workers, especially in harsh environments where workers' innate sensing is limited.

2. KEY FINDINGS

- The tactile-based communication system (ESCS) demonstrated its ability to communicate hazard information to workers.
- The distinct tactile signal units, based on three signal parameters (signal intensity, signal duration, and signal delay), could be used to construct communicable tactile signals to deliver information.
- Past literature studies, followed by the layout tests, identified an effective layout of vibration motors based on motor sensitivity, spacing, and layout test results.
- The 4-2-4 configuration of ten vibrating motors could effectively communicate key hazard information with higher accuracy, when compared to a 1-3-3-3 configuration.
- The signal perception capability of individuals could be significantly improved with continuous training.
- Based on current work zone safety technology and past research, the key information units required for communication were the relative location of hazard, hazard level, and the type of hazard (e.g., equipment type). This information could be effectively communicated with the help of ten vibrating motors, indexed to represent various units of information.
- The field trials validated the effectiveness of using the prototype ESCS as a hazard communication system in construction work zones.

3. INTRODUCTION

The safety of construction workers is given the highest priority in the construction industry (Wu et al. 2015). As such, workers are equipped with required personal protective equipment (PPE) for their safety, and there are qualified safety inspectors to ensure safety on construction sites. Despite such efforts, fatal accidents are common, and there has been an increasing trend of worker fatalities in the US (Bureau of Labor Statistics 2018). The construction industry alone accounts for approximately 20% of such fatalities (OSHA 2018). These reports show that efforts to ensure safe work zones are not sufficient. A few studies have reported that the conventional method of visual safety inspection is not capable of identifying all potential hazards on construction sites (Carter and Smith 2006; Park et al. 2018; Perlman et al. 2014;

Sacks et al. 2009; Sakhakarmi et al. 2019). Accordingly, researchers are continuously working to support safety managers in maintaining site safety by devising innovative technologies to detect and communicate potential work-zone hazards.

Past studies have explored various methods of automated hazard detection using sensing technologies, such as radio frequency identification (Marks and Teizer 2012; Teizer et al. 2010), ultra-wideband (Carbonari et al. 2011; Jo et al. 2019), Bluetooth (Park et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2018), vision (Kim et al. 2017), and inertial measurement unit sensors (Jebelli et al. 2016). Although such studies achieved success in utilizing technology to detect the proximity of hazardous situations in real time, their methods of communicating such information to individual workers were impeded in several ways. The prevalently used alarm sound technologies **often fail to warn workers**, especially in noisy work zones (Fyhrie 2016; Wang et al. 2011). The adverse nature of construction sites often impairs workers' audio and visual sensing abilities, and results in their failure to perceive these types of warnings, despite such risks being identified/located using various technologies. As such, the existing hazard detection systems are not fully capable of communicating warning signals to workers, due to their impaired sensing in such an environment. Therefore, there is a need to find effective ways to communicate hazard information in such a way that the communication is not adversely influenced by external factors.

In response to the challenge associated with hazard communication, this project was initiated to develop a prototype ESCS. It is a tactile-based, wearable communication system that uses vibrating motors. It is worn on the backs of workers to communicate previously detected hazard information to them in the form of vibration signals. Such signals, in the form of the sensation of touch, can provide an additional sensing ability, beyond their innate-sensing abilities (e.g., vision and audio), which previous research has found to be inadequate in certain construction environments. Thus, the proposed research may offer a transformative approach to workers' hazard awareness in the adverse nature of the construction site. The system development process included a series of laboratory experiments. Further, several field trials were conducted to determine the effectiveness of the hazard communication system in delivering key hazard information to workers. The field trial results demonstrated the capability of the prototype ESCS to communicate distinct signal profiles, and the test participants were able to perceive the specific hazard information contained within the signal profiles.

4. OBJECTIVES

The main goal of this research was to develop a prototype ESCS, which is a tactile-based hazard communication system to warn workers of detected potential hazards on a construction site. This system uses vibration signals to communicate the hazard information and enables workers to sense hazards, without using their senses of vision and hearing. The research team used tactile sensors attached to the backs of workers to stimulate their sensory nervous systems, in order to communicate safety messages directly to them. To accomplish this goal, the research objectives were designed as follows:

- Create the real-time ESCS and identify the key information to represent construction hazards resulting from proximity breaches by construction equipment and intruding vehicles in work zones.
- Identify the best configuration of the vibratory sensors. This task investigates the potential sensor configuration for optimal perception by individuals.
- 3) Establish an effective way to construct the tactile messages with key elements. As tactile messages have different signal intensities, signal peaks, valley durations, and pulse delays, this task investigates methods for codifying and testing various signal profiles.

4) Assess system performance by conducting tests in various scenarios through field trials.

5. METHODS

System Development



Arduino boards for the prototype development, as shown in Figure 1. The prototype system consists of two subsystems, i.e., a personal tactile-signal component and a server component. The personal tactile-signal system consists of

The first part of this research was to develop a prototype

ESCS. The researchers used vibration motors and



vibration motors embedded on a waist belt, and the vibration motors are controlled by Arduino boards, in order to generate tactile signals for hazard communication. This wearable system is securely attached to the tactile sensors at the back of a test participant. The server system uses an additional Arduino board to receive hazard information from a hazard detection system, and then relay it to the personal tactile-signal system in order to alert workers. For this study, the research team developed software that can be used with laptops and mobile devices. Figure 2 shows the layout of a mobile application used for testing the transmission of the vibration signals.



Figure 2. Mobile application

Key Hazard Information and Number of Vibration Motors

Along with the prototype development, the researchers identified key information, based on past studies, to represent a potential collision accident. The distance between workers and vehicles/equipment has been identified as a measure to determine worker safety in previous studies related to collision (Kim et al. 2017; Son et al. 2019). In other studies (Park et al. 2016b; Son et al. 2019), distance has been categorized into different hazard zones to indicate different levels of risk to workers. To determine a potential collision hazard, researchers (Kim et al. 2017; Park et al. 2016b; a) also accounted for the relative locations of vehicles/equipment. The type of construction equipment is another piece of information that needs to be communicated in the case of a potential collision between workers and construction equipment, as knowing the type of equipment allows the workers to intuitively have a good idea about the nature of the situation. As such, this study considered the relative location of vehicle/equipment, level of hazard, and the type of equipment. However, in the case of a collision due to an intruding vehicle, the type of vehicle is not a key parameter to communicate, as far as the information on the detected intrusion point is transmitted. Thus, this study considered the relative location of intrusion point and the hazard level as the key information to communicate in the studies of a collision due to an intruding vehicle, the

These key types of information were used as the basis for determining the number of vibration motors required to effectively deliver warnings to workers. Figure 3 shows a typical hazard scenario in a work

zone due to a collision between a worker and construction equipment, as well as the hazard communication process using the prototype ESCS. The relative hazard location information is represented by two components, such as direction and distance with respect to an individual worker's position. For the relative directional information, this study considered eight directions, each at 45°, with respect to a worker's position in the horizontal plane. The distance information was categorized into different regions based on the proximity level, as represented by the circular boundaries around the worker in Figure 3; the researchers included the information. Accordingly, the researchers used 10 vibration motors to communicate information related to a detected hazard: eight motors were indexed to indicate eight directions (relative locations), together with hazard level, while two other motors were used to represent equipment type. This means that different motors vibrate to communicate different units of information, and this helps to create easily distinguishable signal profiles.



Figure 3. Tactile-based hazard communication system

Experimental Studies

The researchers conducted three experimental studies progressively, as the ESCS was developed and the communication protocols were refined. The three experimental studies are subsequently discussed in the following sections. For these studies, the test participants were selected based on their capabilities to sense vibration signals on their backs. Further, different participants were employed for different tests, mainly to make the study results more reliable. Thus, this resulted in different numbers of test participants in the three experimental studies: six individuals in the first experimental study, and five in the other two studies.

Sensory System Configuration Study

This experimental study aims to determine the best configuration of the ten tactile sensors for a worker's effective perception of the key communicated hazard information. For this purpose, the researchers conducted two separate studies (i.e., spacing and configuration) in sequence. These studies involved six test participants who were capable of identifying vibration signals on their backs. All experimental tests were conducted in a controlled laboratory setting. The participants were initially trained to identify

different signals before testing, in order to determine their capabilities to recognize the transmitted signals accurately. The following sections explain these studies in detail:

a. Spacing Study

For the spacing study, the researchers used five vibration motors embedded on a waist belt, as shown in Figure 4. This study tested different spacings between adjacent motors, in order to determine an optimum spacing between vibration motors, so that there was minimum confusion between the signals received from adjacent motors. This was to enable participants' identification of individual motors, and assist in determining the sensory configuration that could be used to create easily distinguishable signal profiles using a combination of different motors. Figure 5 shows a test participant equipped with PPE and the prototype ESCS on his back for the study.

This study tested six different spacings between adjacent vibration motors, as shown in Table 1. For each of the spacings, the test participants were asked to identify 300 signals from different motors. The study results, summarized in Table 1, show that the vibration signals are better perceived with greater spacing between vibration motors. The perception accuracy decreases with less spacing. Further, the participants found it difficult to identify signals from motors arranged on the vertical axis (i.e., motors 1, 2 and 3), compared to the motors arranged on



the horizontal axis (i.e., motors 4, 2 and 5). At the spacing of 2.5 inches between adjacent motors, the participants had approximately 95% accuracy of correctly identifying signals from individual motors. Thus, a minimum spacing of 2.5 inches was adopted in further studies, for a better perception of signals. The optimum range for the spacing of motors is 2.5 inches to 3.25 inches.

S N	Vert. Spacing	Hor. Spacing	Individu	ual motor p	perception	1 accurac	y (%)
5.11.	(v inches)	(h inches)	1	2	3	4	5
1	3.25	3.25	99.44	100	100	100	100
2	3.00	3.00	99.72	100	99.72	100	100
3	2.75	2.75	94.17	99.17	100	100	100
4	2.50	2.50	94.72	98.61	96.67	99.72	100
5	2.25	2.50	90.28	98.06	95.83	100	100
6	2.00	2.50	86.67	97.50	93.33	100	100

Table 1. Summary of spacing study results

b. Configuration Study

The purpose of the configuration study was to determine a suitable layout for ten vibration motors that would result in better signal transmission. Therefore, this study tested the capability of individuals to accurately identify signals from different motors. From the literature review, it was determined that the

navigation assistance devices developed by other researchers used two configurations of vibration motors: (a) around the waist of the user (Durá-Gil et al. 2017; Elliott et al. 2010; Van Erp 2005; Faugloire and Lejeune 2014; Grierson et al. 2009, 2011) and (b) a back-array arrangement on the user's back (Ross and Blasch 2000; Tan et al. 2003). This study adopted the back-array configuration because the system should be attached to body parts that are relatively free; the backs of workers generally remain free during construction activities, compared with other body parts. Thus, using motors on the back would be the most appropriate for workers' effective signal perception.

Preliminarily, two back-array configurations of the 10 vibration motors were identified for this study. The first was a 1-3-3-3 motor configuration, which had one motor on the first row and three motors on the second, third, and last rows, as shown in Figure 6. The next configuration was a 4-2-4 motor configuration, with four motors on the first and last rows, and two motors on the second row, as shown in Figure 7.



In the preliminary study, each of the test participants was asked to identify 600 signals from different motors for each motor configuration. Table 2 summarizes the comparative results of the test participants.

Test Particinant	Average Accuracy					
	1-3-3-3 Configuration	4-2-4 Configuration				
1	87.17%	94.33%				
2	87.17%	95.83%				
3	81.17%	90.67%				
4	84.33%	95.50%				
5	85.33%	93.50%				
6	89.33%	96.67%				
5 6	85.33% 89.33%	93.5 96.6				

[a]	bl	le	2.	C	Configura	ation	study	y pre	eliminar	y test	results
-----	----	----	----	---	-----------	-------	-------	-------	----------	--------	---------

Table 2 shows that each participant had better accuracy in recognizing signals from the 4-2-4 motor configuration compared to the 1-3-3-3 motor configuration. Accordingly, the 4-2-4 motor configuration

was identified to be best suited for the intended purpose of this study, as demonstrated by its better performance compared to the 1-3-3-3 configuration. For validation of these results, follow-up tests were performed with new test participants, who had not been involved in the previous tests. Each participant was asked to identify 120 signals at a time, and the tests were repeated 10 times. Figure 8 shows the signal perception accuracy of each participant plotted for the 10 trials. The plot shows that there was continuous improvement in the signal perception capability of all test participants over the 10



trials, finally resulting in above 97% accuracy, despite lower accuracies in initial tests. These results show the impact of training over time; i.e., the perception capability of individuals improves with continuous training.

Signal Parameter Study

This study focused on identifying basic signal units that could be used to develop a completely tactile-based communicable language. For this purpose, the researchers conducted an experimental study to identify distinguishable signal units based on three signal parameters: signal intensity, signal duration, and signal delay, as shown in Figure 9. By varying any of these parameters, different signal profiles could be constructed to represent different information.

For signal intensity, ten different signal units, between the intensities of 1.3 volts to 3.1 volts, were



selected. Similarly, ten different signal units, with durations between 75 milliseconds and 500 milliseconds, were selected for both signal duration and signal delay. All of these signal units were indexed from one to 10. Table 3 shows the 30 indexed signal parameter values used in this study.

Table 3. Signa	d unit indices	for the si	gnal pa	rameter	study
			-		•/

Danamatans					Signa	l Index				
Parameters	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Signal Intensity (V)	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	2.1	2.3	2.5	2.7	2.9	3.1
Signal Duration (ms)	75	100	150	200	250	300	350	400	450	500
Signal Delay (ms)	75	100	150	200	250	300	350	400	450	500

For each signal parameter, five test participants were asked to identify 40 signal units for each of the indexed signals. The transmitted signals and the signals perceived by test participants were recorded and

analyzed using probability density plots to identify distinct signal units. Figure 10 shows the probability density plots of the three signal parameters. In the plots, the overlapping area between the signal indices indicates whether the signals were distinct or not. The smallest overlapping area between two signal indices means that those signals were distinct. Thus, the overlapping areas between the signal indices were calculated for each signal parameter.



Figure 10. Probability density plots for each signal parameter

Based on the minimum overlapping area between signal indices, eight signal units were identified to be easily distinguishable, out of the 30 indexed signal units. Figure 11 shows the distinct signal units for each signal parameter. In the case of signal intensity, indexed signal units one, five, and 10 were found to be easily distinguishable. Similarly, indexed signal units one, five, and nine of signal duration, and indexed signal units one and 10 of signal delay were found to be distinguishable signals, respectively.



Field Trials

The research team collaborated with a local contractor, Las Vegas Paving Corporation, to conduct field trials to determine the potential of the 4-2-4 sensory configuration for the optimal perception of communicated information by individuals. The field trials were conducted for the following two cases of collision:

- Collision between workers and construction equipment;
- Collision due to intruding vehicles.

Different signal profiles were created using the distinct signal units identified from the signal parameter study, and the combination of signals from an indexed vibration motor arranged in a 4-2-4 layout. In the field trials, specific information was communicated to test participants with distinct signal profiles. Five test participants were involved in the field experiments; all of them were familiar with the ESCS and had been trained to identify the information communicated through different signal profiles in a laboratory setting before the actual field trials.

Collision between workers and equipment (Case 1): Figure 12 shows the site layout for the field trials related to construction site hazards due to a collision between workers and on-site equipment. For this study, the hazard zones were marked by drawing concentric circular boundaries of radii at four meters, eight meters, and 12 meters. The markers of different colors were used to indicate different levels of hazard zones around the test participants. The red markers were used to indicate a highly hazardous zone, while the yellow markers were used to indicate a medium hazard zone, and the green markers were used to indicate a lower hazard zone. The test participants were equipped with PPEs along with the prototype ESCSs. Further, participants' eyes and ears were covered, to ensure that they could only rely on the communicated tactile signals to sense the hazard situations.



Figure 12. Site layout for field trials - Case 1 (Collision between workers and on-site equipment)

During the field trials, each test participant was located at the center of the marked zone and different types of equipment approached towards the participant. A dump truck and a wheel loader were used in the trials, and it was ensured that the approaching equipment and test participants were at safe distances at all times during the experiments. The research team used a proximity detection system, a Bluetooth-based system, that was found in a past CPWR's small study, 16-1-PS (Cho et al. 2017) to detect the proximity of the equipment. Then the research team conducted three different tests with the same site layout and the same testing procedure; i.e., a vehicle approaching the participant, as shown in Figure 13. The three tests were designed to explore the participant's perception ability as the amount of information communicated to the participant by the ESCS increased. The purpose of this research was to promptly communicate detected hazard messages to workers by using tactile signals, given that early and prompt hazard awareness would give them enough time to take preemptive actions. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that workers would be able to check the detected hazard sources upon receiving the communicated tactile warnings in order to determine what action(s) to take. However, in the current studies, the researchers covered the eyes and ears of the test subjects, so the test subjects were pre-instructed to make specific

move-away movements based on the signals they received. These tests are explained in the following sections:

- Test 1: Relative location only
 In this test, the participants were given signals with only the relative location information of the
 approaching equipment. On receiving the signals, the participants moved away from their original
 location to avoid the potential collision accident, and then stated the information they received.
- Test 2: Relative location and level of hazard In this test, the participants received signals containing information related to the relative location of the equipment, as well as the level of hazard (indicating how close the equipment was to the participant, based on the markers). The reactions of the participants were the same as in the previous test.
- Test 3: Relative location, level of hazard, and type of equipment
 In this test, signals with information related to the relative location of the equipment, level of hazard, and type of approaching equipment (i.e., dump truck or wheel loader) were transmitted to participants, and they reacted similarly to the previous tests.





(a) (b) Figure 13. Field trials for Case 1 (Tests 1, 2, and 3)

Collision due to intruding vehicles (Case 2): Figure 14 shows the field setup for this test (Test 4) related to collision accidents in roadwork zones due to the intrusion of outside vehicles. The roadwork zone is marked with the traffic cones, and a pickup truck is used to represent the intruding vehicle. For this test, the detection of intrusion was manually measured under significant margins of safety (i.e., safe condition), due to potential safety issues. Based on the detected intrusion point, the five test participants (with eyes and ears covered) were transmitted vibration signals containing information related to the intruding vehicle (i.e., the relative location of intrusion and hazard zone). After receiving tactile signals, the participants were pre-instructed to make specific move-away movements, as was done with the previous tests. Then their responses were recorded.



Figure 14. Field test to transmit intrusion hazard information – Case 2 (Test 4)

Table 4 shows a summary of the test results for all field trials performed with five test participants. The results show that the accuracy of participants' perceptions of the communicated signals gradually decreased, with an increase in the amount of information communicated through the tactile signals (i.e., from Test 1 to Test 3). However, the overall minimum accuracy was observed to be approximately 95% for the four field tests.

Tost Doutisinants				
Test Participants –	Test 1	Test 2	Test 3	Test 4
P1	100.00	98.80	95.60	95.00
P2	98.00	98.80	95.20	97.00
P3	99.60	98.80	94.80	100.00
P4	98.40	98.00	90.80	95.00
P5	99.60	98.80	96.80	100.00
Overall Accuracy	99.12	98.64	94.64	97.40

Table 4. Field Test Summary

6. ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND RESULTS

This study developed a prototype ESCS using tactile sensors for the communication of detected hazard information on construction sites. The sensory system configuration was determined through experimental laboratory tests. The tests demonstrated that larger spacing between vibration motors results in better signal communication. Based on these findings, as well as a comparative study between a 1-3-3-3 configuration and a 4-2-4 configuration of 10 vibration motors, the 4-2-4 configuration has been identified as the best configuration of motors, resulting in minimal signal miscommunication. This configuration allowed for the creation of signal profiles using multiple indexed-vibration-motors to communicate hazard information to workers. The follow-up tests using the 4-2-4 configuration for 10 trials demonstrated that the signal perception capability of individuals notably increased with training (i.e., better performance of the prototype ESCS with continuous training of workers).

The study of signal parameters demonstrated the capability of the system to communicate distinguishable tactile signals to workers in a discrete manner. For the correct communication of hazard

information, it is important that the system swiftly deliver key detected hazard information to workers. For this purpose, the types of information included in the tactile signals were the relative location (i.e., the approximate location of hazard relative to worker position), level of hazard, and vehicle/equipment type entering the work zone. The distinct signal units, identified from the signal parameter study, were used to form a complete tactile-based language, using multiple indexed-vibration-motors to communicate the key information to individuals. Field trials conducted to test such signals, using multiple pieces of information, found that the test participants efficiently perceived the communicated signals with good accuracy. These field trial results validate the effectiveness of using this system to communicate detected hazard information to workers in work zones.

Therefore, this study successfully developed a prototype ESCS through laboratory tests. Further, its feasibility to communicate signals to workers containing information to prevent work-zone collisions, either with on-site vehicles/equipment or outside vehicles, was determined through controlled field trials. Further study to communicate tactile signals based on other possible hazards, detected by hazard detection systems, would give more validation for the application of this system in work zones. Such validation would require the integration of the prototype ESCS with available hazard detection systems, and the conversion of the detected hazard information into corresponding tactile signal profiles. These communicated signals would enable workers to take actions to prevent potential fatalities in construction work zones.

7. CHANGES/PROBLEMS

There were no changes in key staff, plans, or methods.

8. FUTURE FUNDING PLANS

For future research to enhance the current prototype system, the research team plans to seek additional funding from the National Science Foundation and local construction companies.

9. LIST OF PUBLICATIONS/PRESENTATIONS

Journal Publications:

1) Sakhakarmi, S. and Park, J. "Investigation of Tactile Sensory System Configuration for Construction Hazard Perception." Sensors 2019, 19 (11), 2527.

Conference Presentations:

- Sakhakarmi, S. and Park, J. "Wearable Tactile System for Improved Hazard Perception in Construction Sites." 2020 ASCE Construction Research Congress, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona, USA. (Full paper submitted)
- Sakhakarmi, S., Park, J., and Cho, C. "Prototype Development of a Tactile Sensing for Improved Worker Safety Perception." 2019 ASCE International Conference on Computing in Civil Engineering, Atlanta, Georgia, USA.

10. DISSEMINATION PLAN

The researchers will disseminate the findings of this study and follow-up future research through various channels:

- Journal publications in top journals such as Sensors, ASCE Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, and Automation in Construction
- Conference papers or posters in 2019 ASCE International Conference on Computing in Civil Engineering and Construction Research Congress 2020

11. REFERENCES

- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). "National Census of Fatal Occupational Injuries in 2017." *News Release*, https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/cfoi.pdf (Apr. 8, 2019).
- Carbonari, A., Giretti, A., and Naticchia, B. (2011). "A proactive system for real-time safety management in construction sites." *Automation in Construction*, 20(6), 686–698.
- Carter, G., and Smith, S. D. (2006). "Safety Hazard Identification on Construction Projects." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 132(2), 197–205.
- Cho, Y. K., Xiaoyu, Y., and Park, J. (2017). *Improving Work Zone Safety Utilizing a New Mobile Proximity Sensing Technology*.
- Durá-Gil, J. V., Bazuelo-Ruiz, B., Moro-Pérez, D., and Mollà-Domenech, F. (2017). "Analysis of different vibration patterns to guide blind people." *PeerJ*, 5, e3082.
- Elliott, L. R., Van Erp, J. B. F., Redden, E. S., and Duistermaat, M. (2010). "Field-Based Validation of a Tactile Navigation Device." *IEEE Transactions on Haptics*, 3(2), 78–87.
- Van Erp, J. B. F. (2005). "Presenting directions with a vibrotactile torso display." *Ergonomics*, 48(3), 302–313.
- Faugloire, E., and Lejeune, L. (2014). "Evaluation of Heading Performance With Vibrotactile Guidance : The Benefits of Information – Movement Coupling Compared With Spatial Language." *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 20(4), 397–410.
- Fyhrie, P. B. (2016). "Work Zone Intrusion Alarms for Highway Workers." *Caltrans Division of Research, Innovation and System Information*, http://www.dot.ca.gov/newtech/researchreports/preliminary_investigations/docs/work_zone_warning preliminary investigation.pdf> (Oct. 20, 2018).
- Grierson, L. E. M., Zelek, J., and Carnahan, H. (2009). "The Application of a Tactile Way-finding Belt to Facilitate Navigation in Older Persons." *Ageing International*, 34, 203–215.
- Grierson, L. E. M., Zelek, J., Lam, I., Black, S. E., and Carnahan, H. (2011). "Application of a Tactile Way-Finding Device to Facilitate Navigation in Persons With Dementia." *Assistive Technology*, 23(2), 108–115.
- Jebelli, H., Ahn, C. R., and Stentz, T. L. (2016). "Comprehensive Fall-Risk Assessment of Construction Workers Using Inertial Measurement Units: Validation of the Gait-Stability Metric to Assess the Fall Risk of Iron Workers." *Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering*, 30(3), 04015034.
- Jo, B.-W., Lee, Y.-S., Khan, R. M. A., Kim, J.-H., and Kim, D.-K. (2019). "Robust Construction Safety System (RCSS) for Collision Accidents Prevention on Construction Sites." *Sensors*, 19.
- Kim, K., Kim, H., and Kim, H. (2017). "Image-based construction hazard avoidance system using augmented reality in wearable device." *Automation in Construction*, Elsevier, 83, 390–403.
- Marks, E., and Teizer, J. (2012). "Proximity Sensing and Warning Technology for Heavy Construction Equipment Operation." *Construction Research Congress 2012*, ASCE, West Lafayette, Indiana,

United States, 981–990.

- OSHA. (2018). "Commonly Used Statistics." https://www.osha.gov/oshstats/commonstats.html (Apr. 8, 2019).
- Park, J., Cho, Y. K., and Timalsina, S. K. (2016a). "Direction Aware Bluetooth Low Energy Based Proximity Detection System for Construction Work Zone Safety." 33rd International Symposium on Automation and Robotics in Construction (ISARC 2016), Atlanta, GA.
- Park, J., Marks, E., Cho, Y. K., and Suryanto, W. (2016b). "Performance Test of Wireless Technologies for Personnel and Equipment Proximity Sensing in Work Zones." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 142(1), 04015049.
- Park, J., Sakhakarmi, S., Cho, Y. K., and Yang, X. (2018). "Parameter Adjustment Function for Bluetooth Low-Energy Sensors in Dynamic Construction Proximity Applications." *International Road Federal Global Road Conference*, (November).
- Park, J., Yang, X., Cho, Y. K., and Seo, J. (2017). "Improving dynamic proximity sensing and processing for smart work-zone safety." *Automation in Construction*, Elsevier, 84, 111–120.
- Perlman, A., Sacks, R., and Barak, R. (2014). "Hazard recognition and risk perception in construction." *Safety Science*, Elsevier Ltd, 64, 22–31.
- Ross, D. A., and Blasch, B. B. (2000). "Wearable Interfaces for Orientation and Wayfinding." *Fourth International ACM conference on Assistive technologies*, 193–200.
- Sacks, R., Rozenfeld, O., and Rosenfeld, Y. (2009). "Spatial and Temporal Exposure to Safety Hazards in Construction." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 135(8), 726–736.
- Sakhakarmi, S., Park, J., and Cho, C. (2019). "Enhanced Machine Learning Classification Accuracy for Scaffolding Safety Using Increased Features." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 145(2), 04018133.
- Son, H., Seong, H., Choi, H., and Kim, C. (2019). "Real-Time Vision-Based Warning System for Prevention of Collisions between Workers and Heavy Equipment." *Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering*, 33(5), 04019029.
- Tan, H. Z., Gray, R., Young, J. J., and Traylor, R. (2003). "A Haptic Back Display for Attentional and Directional Cueing." *Haptics-e*, 3(1), 1–20.
- Teizer, J., Allread, B. S., Fullerton, C. E., and Hinze, J. (2010). "Autonomous pro-active real-time construction worker and equipment operator proximity safety alert system." *Automation in Construction*, Elsevier B.V., 19(5), 630–640.
- Wang, M.-H., Schrock, S. D., Bai, Y., and Rescot, R. A. (2011). Evaluation of Innovative Traffic Safety Devices at Short-Term Work Zones. Kansas Department of Transportation.
- Wu, C.-L., Fang, D.-P., Liao, P.-C., Xue, J.-W., Li, Y., and Wang, T. (2015). "Perception of corporate social responsibility: The case of Chinese international contractors." *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Elsevier Ltd, 107, 185–194.
- Yang, X., Park, J., and Cho, Y. K. (2018). "Adaptive Signal-Processing for BLE Sensors for Dynamic Construction Proximity Safety Applications." Construction Research Congress 2018: Safety and Disaster Management - Selected Papers from the Construction Research Congress 2018.



www.cpwr.com • www.elcosh.org